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THE FLORIDA BAR, Complainant, 

VS. 

ANDREW PAVLICK, Respondent. 

[April 2, 19871 

BARKETT, J. 

This disciplinary proceeding is before us on complaint of 

The Florida Bar and the referee's report. The Florida Bar has 

filed a petition for review, contesting the referee's findings 

and recommended discipline of a two-year suspension with 

automatic reinstatement. We have jurisdiction. Art. V, § 15, 

Fla. Const. We adopt the findings and recommendations of the 

referee with the modification that respondent be required to 

submit proof of rehabilitation prior to reinstatement. 

On June 19, 1984, Pavlick was indicted in the Eastern 

District of Michigan for conspiracy to import marijuana in 

violation of 21 U.S.C. § 963 (1981), and conspiracy to possess 

with intent to distribute and distribution of marijuana in 

violation of 21 U.S.C. § 846 (1981). On October 26, 1984, 

Pavlick entered an "~lford'l plea in which he pleaded guilty to 

''I [A] plea . . . containing a protestation of innocence 
when . . . a defendant intelligently concludes that his 
interests require entry of a guilty plea . . . ." North Carolina 
v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 37 (1970). 



accessory after the fact to a misprison of a felony2 in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 3 (1981). On January 4, 1985, Pavlick 

was adjudicated guilty of the offense charged, fined $250, and 

sentenced to one year in custody, to be released as if on parole 

after serving one-third of the term. 

As a result of his felony conviction, Pavlick was 

suspended from the practice of law by order of this Court dated 

April 24, 1985. Thereafter, The Florida Bar initiated this 

disciplinary action seeking disbarment. 

According to the referee's report, the facts underlying 

the plea and conviction were as follows: In June 1979, Pavlick 

was hired to defend three persons who had been arrested in New 

Orleans, Louisiana, in connection with a marijuana importation 

scheme. Pavlick retained as co-counsel Louisiana attorney 

Louis B. Merhige. All three defendants were convicted and 

sentenced to prison terms. (Subsequently, two of the defendants 

had their convictions overturned.) Following their conviction, a 

grand jury was convened in New Orleans to have the defendants 

testify as to the source of the marijuana. In October 1979, the 

defendants told government officials at a debriefing session, and 

later the grand jury, that the backer of the smuggling operation 

was Jose "Iggy" Azpetitia, a known drug figure who had died prior 

to the debriefing. That story was later discovered to be false. 

Sometime in the middle of 1984, the United States attorney 

in the Eastern District of Michigan began an investigation of 

Pavlick and Merhige with regard to the Iggy story. Merhige told 

the grand jury in Michigan that Pavlick fabricated the Iggy story 

to hide the true backers of the marijuana operation. Merhige 

testified further that the lie was concocted between Pavlick and 

Merhige at a meeting in Tallahassee, Florida, on October 13 or 

14, 1979. As a result of Merhige's testimony, Pavlick was 

indicted along with five others on the drug trafficking charge 

2 ~ h e  charge means that the accused heard or knew through a 
secondary source that a crime had been committed and failed to 
report it, having a duty to do so. 



which subsequently led to the "Alford" plea. Merhige apparently 

traded this testimony for immunity from the pending indictment. 

At the hearing before the referee, Pavlick testified at 

length to the circumstances which led to the "Alford" plea. 

Pavlick testified that he did not meet Merhige in Tallahassee on 

October 13 or 14, 1979, and that he never conspired to get the 

defendants to lie to the grand jury. Pavlick said that he did 

attend the debriefing in New Orleans on October 18, 1979, where 

he heard for the first time that his clients had some connection 

with Iggy. Pavlick did not discover the falsity of the Iggy 

story until the middle of 1984, just prior to his indictment. 

When questioned by government officials at that time, Pavlick 

denied having been at the October 13-14 meeting, denied telling 

his clients to lie, denied knowing the Iggy story was fabricated, 

and offered to submit to a polygraph exam. 

The FBI declined Pavlick's offer to take a polygraph. The 

referee, however, did allow the results of a polygraph test to be 

introduced at the hearing below. That exam bore out Pavlick's 

testimony. Pavlick stated further that Merhige refused to take a 

polygraph test. 

Pavlick also testified that he agreed to plead to the 

lesser charge in large part because of pressure from his wife. 

Although denying the charge against him, he concluded that his 

interests and those of his family (his wife and three little 

children) required the entry of a plea to avoid the stress of 

further proceedings and the risk of greater punishment (up to ten 

years imprisonment). Following the plea hearing, Pavlick 

continued to protest his innocence and dispute the underlying 

facts of the offense with which he was charged through letters 

written by his attorney in Michigan to the United States District 

Judge who sentenced him. 

Based on the foregoing testimony, the referee recommended 

that Pavlick be found guilty of violating article XI, Rules 

11.02 (3) (a) and (b) of the Integration Rule of The Florida 



~ a r .  ' The referee stated that he accepted Pavlick's testimony 
that he submitted to an "Alford" plea rather than go to trial 

because of his family. He also found that Pavlick has no prior 

disciplinary convictions, that he has been an exemplary father 

and family man, and that he has participated in community 

activities. Based on these factors, the referee recommended that 

Pavlick be suspended from the practice of law for a period of two 

years from the date of the conviction with automatic 

reinstatement at the end of the period of suspension. 

In its petition for review, The Florida Bar raises four 

issues for our consideration. First, the Bar argues that the 

referee erred in permitting Pavlick to go behind his conviction 

to assert his innocence. Relying on The Florida Bar v. Vernell, 

374 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1979), and The Florida Bar v. Wilson, 425 

So.2d 2 (Fla. 1983), the Bar argues that Pavlick does not have 

the right to a trial de novo before the referee and that his 

guilt is conclusively established by his conviction pursuant to 

article XI, Rule 11.07(4) of the Integration Rule of The Florida 

Bar. 4 

3~rticle XI, Rule 11.02(3) of the Integration Rule 
provides in part: 

(3) Moral conduct. 

(a) Standards. . . . The commission by a 
lawyer of any act contrary to honesty, justice, or 
good morals, whether the act is committed in the 
course of his relations as an attorney or otherwise, 
whether committed within or outside the State of 
Florida, and whether or not the act is a felony or 
misdemeanor, constitutes a cause for discipline. 

(b) Crime. If the alleged misconduct 
constitutes a felony or misdemeanor, The Florida Bar 
may initiate disciplinary action whether or not the 
accused attorney has been tried, acquitted, or 
convicted in a court for the alleged criminal offense 

'Article XI, Rule 11.07 (4) of the Integration Rule 
provides that: 

If a determination or judgment of guilt of a felony 
is entered against a member of The Florida Bar and 
becomes final without appeal . . . such judgment 
shall be conclusive proof of the guilt of the offense 
charged. 



W e  a g r e e  w i t h  t h e  Bar t h a t  o r d i n a r i l y  it i s  n o t  f o r  t h e  

r e f e r e e  o r  f o r  t h i s  Cour t  t o  d e c i d e  whether  o r  n o t  a  lawyer  i s  

g u i l t y  o f  t h e  o f f e n s e s  o f  which he  o r  s h e  h a s  been c o n v i c t e d .  

However, w e  b e l i e v e  t h e  Bar h a s  m i s p e r c e i v e d  t h e  f i n d i n g s  and 

c o n c l u s i o n s  o f  t h e  r e f e r e e .  There i s  no q u e s t i o n  t h a t  t h e  

r e f e r e e  d i d  n o t  a t t e m p t  t o  r e t r y  t h e  r e s p o n d e n t ' s  f e l o n y  c a s e .  

To t h e  c o n t r a r y ,  n o t w i t h s t a n d i n g  h i s  r e s e r v a t i o n s ,  t h e  r e f e r e e  

s p e c i f i c a l l y  found responden t  g u i l t y  of  t h e  a l l e g a t i o n s  charged :  

I recommend t h a t  t h e  Respondent be found g u i l t y  and 
s p e c i f i c a l l y  t h a t  he be  found g u i l t y  o f  A r t i c l e  X I  
Rules  11.02 ( 3 )  ( a )  and ( b )  I n t e g r a t i o n  Rules  of t h e  
F l o r i d a  Bar a s  M r .  P a v l i c k ,  i n  f a c t ,  p l e d  t o  a  f e l o n y  
c h a r g e  a s  r e c i t e d  above. There i s  g r e a t  q u e s t i o n  i n  
my mind concern ing  t h e  background o f  t h i s  p l e a  under  
t h e  c i r c u m s t a n c e s  enumerated above.  

The i s s u e  p r e s e n t e d  h e r e  i s  whether  a n  a t t o r n e y ,  i n  a  

d i sba rment  p roceed ing  based  on a  f e l o n y  c o n v i c t i o n ,  may o f f e r  i n  

m i t i g a t i o n  e v i d e n c e  o f  t h e  c i r c u m s t a n c e s  s u r r o u n d i n g  a n  "Al fo rd"  

p l e a .  W e  have a l r e a d y  answered t h a t  q u e s t i o n  i n  t h e  a f f i r m a t i v e .  

I n  S t a t e  e x  re l .  F l o r i d a  Bar v .  Evans, 94 So.2d 730 ( F l a .  19571, 

which i n v o l v e d  a  c o n v i c t i o n  of  income t a x  e v a s i o n  based  on a  p l e a  

o f  n o l o  c o n t e n d e r e ,  w e  h e l d  t h a t :  

[ I l n  a  d i sba rment  p roceed ing  based  on c o n v i c t i o n  of  a  
crime, t h e  proof of c o n v i c t i o n  and an a d j u d i c a t i o n  of  
g u i l t  a r e  s u f f i c i e n t  t o  e s t a b l i s h  a  prima f a c i e  c a s e  
f o r  d i s c i p l i n a r y  a c t i o n .  Due p r o c e s s ,  however, 
r e q u i r e s  t h a t  t h e  accused  lawyer s h a l l  be  g i v e n  f u l l  
owwortunitv t o  exwla in  t h e  c i r c u m s t a n c e s  and 

& & * L 

o t h e r w i s e  o f f e r  t e s t i m o n y  i n  excuse  o r  i n  m i t i g a t i o n  
of  t h e  p e n a l t y .  

W e  a r e  of  t h e  view t h a t  when a  lawyer  i s  found 
g u i l t y  o f  a  f e l o n y  t h e  a d j u d i c a t i o n  o f  g u i l t  i s  
s u f f i c i e n t  t o  j u s t i f y  s e t t i n g  i n  motion t h e  d i s c i -  
p l i n a r y  p r o c e s s .  I t  may n o t ,  o f  i t s e l f ,  a lways prove  
him u n f i t  t o  p r a c t i c e  law. However, when n o t  
a d e q u a t e l y  c o n t r o v e r t e d  o r  e x p l a i n e d  a f t e r  a  f u l l  and 
f a i r  h e a r i n g ,  t h e  judgment o f  g u i l t  may t h e n  c o n s t i -  
t u t e  t h e  b a s i s  f o r  d i s c i p l i n a r y  a c t i o n .  [ C i t a t i o n s  
o m i t t e d ,  emphasis  added. j 

- 

Id .  a t  735. See The F l o r i d a  Bar v.  L a n c a s t e r ,  448 So.2d 1019, - 

1022 ( F l a .  1984) ( i m p o r t a n t  f a c t o r  i s  n o t  whether  t h e r e  h a s  been 



an actual adjudication of guilt but whether attorney has been 

given chance to explain circumstances surrounding plea of nolo 

contendere and otherwise contest the inference that he engaged in 

illegal conduct); The Florida Bar v. Fussell, 179 So.2d 852, 854 

(Fla. 1965) (due process requires that a lawyer be given an 

opportunity to explain the circumstances and to offer testimony 

in excuse or in mitigation of the penalty). 

Going behind the conviction in this situation clearly does 

not involve a "trial de novo." Consistent with his "Alford" 

plea, respondent presented his version of the underlying case and 

his reasons for the plea. The imposition of discipline without 

affording the accused an opportunity to explain under these 

circumstances would violate due process. We conclude, therefore, 

that the referee did not err in permitting Pavlick to present 

this evidence in mitigation. 

The Bar next argues that the referee erred in denying it 

an opportunity to present witnesses and evidence to rebut 

Pavlick's testimony regarding the facts underlying the guilty 

plea. The record shows that at the conclusion of the hearing 

below, the Bar requested a delay to call a witness or two to give 

a more "complete version" of the facts. The referee refused to 

delay the hearing but did accept the Bar's proffer of two 

documents (Merhige's testimony before the grand jury and a letter 

to the Bar from the United States Attorney who prosecuted the 

case against Pavlick) supporting what the testimony would have 

been. 

We agree that ordinarily the Bar must be allowed to 

present rebuttal testimony. We do not believe, however, that the 

referee's refusal to grant the Bar's eleventh hour request for a 

delay in this instance was improper. The Bar does not claim that 

it was surprised by the testimony offered at the hearing or that 

it was unable to obtain in advance whatever testimony it sought 

to introduce. The record shows that the Bar was first provided 

with a full recitation of Pavlick's version of the facts by 

correspondence dated June 26, 1985. That version was reiterated 



i n  a  d e t a i l e d  response  t o  t h e  complain t  which was f i l e d  on 

November 4 ,  1985. Pav l i ck  was c o n t i n u o u s l y  a v a i l a b l e  t o  be 

deposed and was i n  f a c t  deposed on A p r i l  1 0 ,  1986,  when he  s t a t e d  

e s s e n t i a l l y  t h e  same tes t imony  t h a t  was p r e s e n t e d  a t  t h e  hea r i ng .  

In  l i g h t  o f  t h e  fo r ego ing ,  w e  f i n d  t h a t  t h e  r e f e r e e  p r o p e r l y  

den i ed  t h e  B a r ' s  r e q u e s t  f o r  a  con t inuance .  

With r e g a r d  t o  t h e  r e f e r e e  ' s recommended d i s c i p l i n e ,  t h e  

Bar f i r s t  con tends  t h a t  a  two-year suspens ion  i s  t o o  l e n i e n t .  

The Bar a rgues  t h a t  t h e  conduct  of  which Pav l i ck  was accused and 

conv i c t ed  d e s e r v e s  d i sbarment .  The Bar f u r t h e r  con tends  t h a t  

a r t i c l e  X I ,  Rule 11.07 ( 4 )  of  t h e  I n t e g r a t i o n  Rule mandates a  

minimum t h r e e - y e a r  suspens ion  f o r  f e l o n y  c o n v i c t i o n s .  F i n a l l y ,  

t h e  Bar con tends  t h a t  t h e  r e f e r e e  e r r e d  i n  o r d e r i n g  au toma t i c  

r e i n s t a t e m e n t  a t  t h e  end of  t h e  suspens ion  p e r i o d .  

The B a r ' s  argument i n  f a v o r  of d i sbarment  i s  p r e d i c a t e d  

e n t i r e l y  upon exc lud ing  t h e  ev idence  r e l a t i n g  t o  t h e  f a c t s  

unde r ly ing  P a v l i c k ' s  p l e a .  Because w e  have a l r e a d y  determined 

t h a t  t h e  ev idence  p r e s e n t e d  was p r o p e r l y  admi t t ed  a s  m i t i g a t i n g  

ev idence ,  w e  r e j e c t  t h e  B a r ' s  p o s i t i o n  t h a t  c o n v i c t i o n  a lone  

n e c e s s a r i l y  r e q u i r e s  d isbarment .  W e  n o t e  f u r t h e r  t h a t  n e i t h e r  

t h e  I n t e g r a t i o n  Rule n o r  c a s e  law mandates d i sbarment  f o r  a l l  

a t t o r n e y s  who a r e  conv i c t ed  of  a  f e l o n y .  See The F l o r i d a  Bar v .  

Chosid ,  500 So.2d 150 (F l a .  1 9 8 7 ) ;  The F l o r i d a  Bar v .  Carbonaro,  

464 So.2d 549 ( F l a .  1 9 8 5 ) .  Nor does  t h e  I n t e g r a t i o n  Rule r e q u i r e  

a  t h r ee -yea r  suspens ion  i n  such c a s e s .  - See a r t i c l e  X I ,  Rule 

1 1 . 0 7 ( 4 ) ,  I n t e g r a t i o n  Rule ( suspens ion  imposed upon proof of  

c o n v i c t i o n  of a  f e l ony  must remain i n  e f f e c t  f o r  t h r e e  y e a r s  

" [ u l n l e s s  t h e  Supreme Cour t  p e r m i t s  an e a r l i e r  a p p l i c a t i o n  f o r  

r e i n s t a t e m e n t " )  . 
Thi s  Cour t  ha s  approved p e r i o d s  of  suspens ion  s h o r t e r  t h a n  

t h r e e  y e a r s  i n  c a s e s  i n v o l v i n g  n o l o  con tendere  p l e a s .  See The -- 

F l o r i d a  Bar v. M i l l e r ,  322 So. 2d 502 ( F l a .  1975) (n inety-day 

s u s p e n s i o n ) .  Fur thermore ,  i n  c a s e s  which have invo lved  s i m i l a r  

misconduct ,  w e  have imposed l i g h t e r  punishments t h a n  t h e  

d i s c i p l i n e  recommended h e r e .  See ,  - The F l o r i d a  Bar v. 



Pettie, 424 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1982) (one-year suspension); - The 

Florida Bar v. Simons, 391 So.2d 684 (Fla. 1980) (three-month 

suspension and public reprimand); The Florida Bar v. Pearce, 356 

So. 2d 317 (Fla. 1978) (public reprimand) . 
The referee concluded that Pavlick was telling the truth 

with regard to the facts underlying and leading up to the charges 

of which he was convicted. The referee's finding of fact is 

presumed correct and will be upheld unless clearly erroneous and 

lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Price, 478 

So.2d 812 (Fla. 1985). The referee's findings and conclusions 

are supported by substantial competent evidence. We hold, 

therefore, that a two-year suspension is appropriate. We do 

find, however, that the referee erred in recommending automatic 

reinstatement following the suspension. Article XI, Rule 

11.10(4), Integration Rule ("a suspension of more than three 

months shall require proof of rehabilitation"); The Florida Bar 

v. Musleh, 453 So.2d 794, 797 (Fla. 1984). 

Accordingly, we adopt the referee's findings and 

recommendations of guilt and suspend Pavlick for a period of two 

years, retroactive to January 4, 1985, the effective date of his 

felony conviction, and thereafter until proof of rehabilitation. 

Judgment for costs in the amount of $1,350.80 is hereby entered 

against respondent, for which sum let execution issue. 

It is so ordered. 

McDONALD, C.J., and OVERTON, J., and ADKINS, J. (Ret.), Concur 
EHRLICH, J., Dissents with an opinion, in which SHAW, J., Concurs 

NOT FINAL UNTIL TIME EXPIRES TO FILE REHEARING MOTION AND, IF 
FILED, DETERMINED. THE FILING OF A MOTION FOR REHEARING SHALL 
NOT ALTER THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS SUSPENSION. 



EHRLICH, J., dissenting. 

I think the bar got cut off at the pass. The referee 

permitted mitigation evidence of the circumstances surrounding 

the "Alford" plea but precluded the bar from presenting rebuttal 

testimony, and this appears to me to be wrong and error. 

The referee was impressed with, and apparently influenced 

by, testimony of a witness who administered a polygraph test to 

respondent, which evidence, while admissible in a bar proceeding, 

would be clearly inadmissible in a trial because the reliability 

of a polygraph test has not been proven. The referee was clearly 

influenced by respondent's testimony as to his "Alford" plea. 

Likewise, the referee gave credence to the hearsay 

testimony of respondent that Mr. Merhige, respondent's principal 

accuser, had refused to take a polygraph test, and the referee 

concluded that Mr. Merhige's testimony is suspect, even though he 

had heard none of it. 

It would appear that elemental fairness requires that the 

bar be given an opportunity to rebut this so called mitigating 

evidence even at the cost of a short continuance. 

SHAW, J., Concurs 
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